
 

 

 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 
WESTERN DISTRICT 

 
MOUNT HOPE CHURCH, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 

BASH BACK!, et al., 
  

Defendants.  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 1:09-CV-427 
Hon. Robert Holmes Bell 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

CONSENT ORDER GRANTING PERMANENT INJUNCTION 
 

This case arose out of the Defendants’ protest at and disruption of Plaintiff Mount Hope’s 

church service on November 9, 2008. Mount Hope filed suit, alleging that the Defendants’ 

actions constituted acts of physical obstruction and intimidation in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 248, 

and common law trespass. The Plaintiff and the individually named defendants (collectively, 

“Individual Defendants”) have settled the Church’s claims and Defendants have consented to 

entry of a permanent injunction.  

Therefore, for good cause shown and by the consent of the parties, defendants Anton 

Bollen; Wendie Renae Debnar; Spencer Dilday; Amy “Andy” Michelle Field; Nathan James 

Keller; Melissa Kim; Samuel D. Kreuger; Ryan Levitt; Cailin Elizabeth Major; Devin Scott 

Merget; Kelsey Myking; Allison “Ryan” Margaret Pennings; and Michele “Tyler” Nicole 

Troutman are: 
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1. permanently enjoined from entering any of Mount Hope Church and International 

Outreach Ministry’s property without written consent from a member of Plaintiff’s 

pastoral staff, and from harassing or intimidating any of Mount Hope’s church 

members or staff; 

2. permanently enjoined from disrupting a religious service anywhere in the United States 

by shouting, yelling, throwing objects, unfurling a banner or displaying any other sign 

not approved by the church, or by otherwise causing a disturbance. The Defendants 

shall retain their right to engage in lawful First Amendment speech in a public forum; 

3. permanently enjoined from conducting a protest on the private property of any place of 

worship in the United States; 

4. permanently enjoined from blocking, impeding, or making unreasonably difficult 

ingress or egress to entrances and/or exits of any place of worship in the United States; 

5. permanently enjoined from blocking, impeding, or making unreasonably difficult 

ingress or egress onto property by vehicular or pedestrian traffic at any place of 

worship in the United States; and 

6. permanently enjoined from destroying property at any place of worship in the United 

States. 

 It is further ordered that, by consent of the parties, Defendants Anton Bollen; Wendie 

Renae Debnar; Spencer Dilday; Amy “Andy” Michelle Field; Melissa Kim; Samuel D. Kreuger; 

Ryan Levitt; Cailin Elizabeth Major; Devin Scott Merget; Kelsey Myking; Allison “Ryan” 

Margaret Pennings; and Michele “Tyler” Nicole Troutman shall pay Mount Hope total damages 

of $2,500 within 90 days of the Court’s entry of this consent order. Defendant Nathan James Keller 

shall pay Mount Hope damages of $250 within 90 days of the Court’s entry of this consent order. 
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Violations of this order may be enforced by appropriate motion. If any defendant named in this 

order is found to have violated this Consent Order, he or she shall be subject to a fine of $10,000 

and reasonable attorneys fees and costs associated with enforcement of this order.   

 This action is dismissed with prejudice against the individual defendants named in this 

order.  

Dated: ____________ ___   _________________________   
      ROBERT HOLMES BELL 
      UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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